
7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009-9334 
269-216-5220           Fax 375-7180         TDD 375-7198 

www.oshtemo.org 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS - REGULAR MEETING 

 OSHTEMO TOWNSHIP HALL 
7275 WEST MAIN STREET 

TUESDAY, MAY 27, 2025 
3:00 P.M. 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of Agenda

4. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items

5. Approval of Minutes: April 22, 2025

6. Sign Variance: Maple Hill Auto Group (5622 West Main Street  3905-13-180-035)
Zoning Board of Appeals to consider request for a variance to allow seven wall signs where four are
allowed and for an increased sign area over ordinance limits in the C, Local Business District.

7. Other Updates and Business

8. Adjournment

(Meeting will be available for viewing through https://www.publicmedianet.org/gavel-to-gavel/oshtemo-township) 

1

https://www.publicmedianet.org/gavel-to-gavel/oshtemo-township


Oshtemo Township Board of Trustees 

Supervisor 

Cheri Bell 
Clerk 

Dusty Farmer 

Treasurer 

Clare Buszka 

Trustees 

Kristin Cole 

Zak Ford 

Michael Chapman

216-5220 cbell@oshtemo.org

216-5224 dfarmer@oshtemo.org 

216-5260 cbuszka@oshtemo.org 

760-6769
375-4260

271-5513

Township Department Information 

Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 

Fire Chief: 

Greg McComb 

Ordinance Enforcement: 

Alan Miller
Parks Director: 

Vanessa Street
Rental Info 

Planning Director: 

Vacant
Public Works Director: 

Anna Horner 

216-5225 assessor@oshtemo.org 

375-0487 gmccomb@oshtemo.org 

216-5230 amiller@oshtemo.org

216-5233 
216-5224 

vstreet@oshtemo.org 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org 

planning@oshtemo.org

216-5228 ahorner@oshtemo.org 

Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting: 

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for

dialogue and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may

be delegated to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated

questions can be answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email

(oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited. At the close of
public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include questions
are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further research,
and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board deliberation
which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual 
capabilities of the meeting room. Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required. 

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on 
which the public hearing is being conducted. Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be 
directed to any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting. 

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to the orderly 
conduct of business. The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which 
does not follow these guidelines. 

(adopted 5/9/2000) 
(revised 5/14/2013) 
(revised 1/8/2018) 

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone calls, 
stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from Monday- 
Thursday, 8 a.m.-1 p.m. and 2-5 p.m., and on Friday, 8 a.m.–1 p.m. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person. 

Neil Sikora nsikora@oshtemo.org

kcole@oshtemo.org 

zford@oshtemo.org 

375-4260 mchapman@oshtemo.org

375-4260

2

mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbuszka@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbell@oshtemo.org
mailto:kcole@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:kbradford@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:gmccomb@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:ilubbert@oshtemo.org
mailto:ahorner@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org


Page 1 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP  
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS  

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING HELD APRIL 22, 2025  

Agenda 

Variances: Non-Motorized Facility and Landscaping & Site Plan Review: Blackberry 
Systems (6477 W KL Avenue 3905-23-405-013 
Request for variance from Section 57.90 of the Zoning Ordinance to eliminate the requirement of 
a non-motorized facility. Zoning Board of Appeals also to conduct site plan review of a proposed 
2,100 square foot warehouse building and additions to the existing building. 

A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Board of Appeals was held Tuesday, April 
22, 2025, beginning at 3:00 p.m.  

MEMBERS PRESENT: Fred Gould  
Harry Jachym, Vice Chair 
Al Smith  
Louis Williams, Chair 
Ron Ver Planck 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Rick Everett 
Dusty Farmer 

Also present were Jodi Stefforia, Planning Director; Colten Hutson, Zoning Administrator; 
Leeanna Harris, Planning and Zoning Administrator; Jim Porter, Township Attorney; and 3 
interested persons.  

CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Chair Williams called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. Those in attendance joined in reciting the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

Chair Williams called for approval of the agenda. 

Mr. Smith made a motion to approve the agenda as amended. Mr. Jachym seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

3



 Page 2 
 

There were no comments regarding non-agenda items. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF MARCH 25, 2025 
 
Chair Williams asked for additions, deletions, or corrections to the Minutes of the meeting held 
on March 25, 2025.   
 
Three changes were noted: Mr. Jachym was not in attendance, Mr. Ver Planck was in attendance, 
and Ms. Harris was in attendance. 
 
Mr. Smith made a motion to approve the minutes of the meeting held on March 25, 2025 with 
the noted corrections. Mr. Gould seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
Variances: Non-Motorized Facility and Landscaping & Site Plan Review: Blackberry 
Systems (6477 W KL Avenue 3905-23-405-013) 
 
Ms. Harris presented her staff report dated April 17, 2025, and incorporated herein, regarding site 
plan review for a variance to not be required to construct the non-motorized facility adjacent to S 
9th Street, per Section 57.90 of the Zoning Ordinance; and a variance to not be required to install 
certain landscaping in the greenbelt along the S 9th Street right-of-way, per Section 53.60. 
 
Project Summary 
 
The property owner, Cameron Shields, of Blackberry Systems, is requesting site plan approval 
and two (2) variances. The site currently encompasses two buildings with additions of buildings 
for storage, office, and warehouse uses proposed. The project is planned to be constructed in 
three phases: the 2,100 square footage single story warehouse addition in phase one (2025), the 
1,600 square footage office storage addition in phase two (summer of 2027), and the 800 square 
footage showroom addition in phase three (summer of 2028). The site possesses frontage 
adjacent to S 9th Street and W KL Avenue.   
 
The applicant also requested two variances, which will be presented later in the meeting. 
 
ANALYSIS:  
 
When reviewing the site plan, the general Site Plan Review criteria outlined in Section 64 must 
be considered. 
 
Section 64: Site Plan Review 
 
Zoning:   

Contractor services are considered a permitted use within the I-1: Industrial District.  
6477 W KL Avenue is zoned I-1: Industrial District. Adjacent to the east are other 
industrial uses and to the south is Township-owned property and the Amtrak railway. The 
percentage of land proposed to be covered by buildings is 13.5% and remaining open 

4



 Page 3 
 

space is 63.5%. The proposed building and additions are permitted uses within this 
zoning district. All general zoning requirements have been met.  
 

Lot Dimensions:  
The property is approximately 2.63 acres, including rights-of-way, with 298 feet of 
frontage along W KL Avenue and 248 feet of frontage on S 9th Street. Lot size and 
dimensions satisfy requirements.  

 
Setbacks:  

From S 9th Street and W KL Avenue, a 70-foot setback is required. From the eastern side 
yard, a setback of 15 feet is required, due to a 5-foot setback variance that was granted by 
the ZBA at their August 20, 2024 meeting, and a 20-foot setback required from the south 
property line. Setback requirements are satisfied. 

 
Access:  

The property has an established drive from W KL Avenue, and this access is not expected 
to change. All circulation aisle widths meet the minimum required for two-way travel. 
 

Parking:  
There are 25 existing parking spaces on the site, the minimum required for the proposed 
uses on the site. There are also five large spaces proposed for equipment storage near the 
frontage to S 9th Street. 

 
Easements:   

There is a Consumer’s Power easement that spans diagonally across the southwest of the 
site. Staff also suggest, if the non-motorized variance and site plan are approved, that an 
easement be provided to the Township to accommodate future non-motorized 
infrastructure along S 9th Street. 

 
Non-motorized:  

A variance was requested by the applicant to not be required to install the non-motorized 
infrastructure along S 9th Street at this time, per Section 57.90 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
If the variance is not granted, the site plan would need to be revised and administratively 
approved by staff and the non-motorized infrastructure would need to be installed at the 
time of construction. Most access and circulation requirements are satisfied.  

 
Building Information:  

The proposed 2,100 square foot single-story warehouse with a south elevation, to be 
constructed in phase one, is proposed to have a height of 19 feet and have steel siding. 
The approximate 1,600 square foot office addition on the east side of the site, to be 
accomplished in phase two, is proposed to have a height of 15 feet. Both this addition, 
and the approximate 800 square foot addition on the north side of the site to be 
accomplished in phase three which is not proposed to exceed the existing building in 
height, are proposed to match the existing side color and style. 

 
 

5



 Page 4 
 

Landscaping: 
A variance was requested to not install the two (2) canopy and four (4) understory trees in 
the greenbelt along the S 9th Street right of-way; therefore, these are not currently shown 
on the site plan. Depending on the outcome of the variance request, the site plan would 
need to be revised and administratively approved by staff. There are eight (8) shrubs 
proposed along the parking lot adjacent to S 9th Street. The greenbelt requirements along 
the W KL Avenue right of-way are satisfied with the three (3) canopy trees and six (6) 
understory trees shown on the landscaping plan.  

 
Engineering: 

The Oshtemo Public Works Department reviewed the submission and have provided a 
memo, attached to the packet to be incorporated into the record, regarding the non-
motorized infrastructure along the S 9th Street frontage. Besides their concerns about 
existing grades in the area as it pertains to the construction of a future non-motorized 
facility and the existing stormwater infrastructure, they are satisfied with the site. 

 
Fire Department:  

The Oshtemo Township Fire Marshal has reviewed the proposal and have found the site 
plan to be satisfactory and that it meets code requirements. 
 

Recommendation 
 
Planning Department staff recommend that The Zoning Board of Appeals approve the site plan 
with the following conditions:  
 

• An updated site plan shall be submitted and approved by the Township prior to building 
permit issuance showing the following:  

• A note shall be added to the site plan indicating that the final location of the non-
motorized facility shall be determined by the Township at the time of 
construction.  

• Any additional and necessary changes required due to variance approvals or 
denials.  

• An easement for a future non-motorized facility shall be provided to the Township prior 
to occupancy being granted for the warehouse in phase one. 

 
Chair Williams invited any representatives of the project to come forward and speak. 
 
Mr. Mike Shields, representing Blackberry Systems, addressed the Board regarding the request 
for a landscaping variance. He explained that, due to Consumers Energy previously removing a 
significant number of trees, Blackberry Systems is hesitant to invest in landscaping between the 
parking area and the roadside curb—an area over which they have no control. Mr. Shields noted 
that if assurances could be made that such removals would not occur again, the company would 
be amenable to installing landscaping in that location. 
 

6



 Page 5 
 

Regarding the sidewalk installation, Mr. Shields stated that, at present, there is no connectivity to 
existing pedestrian infrastructure. However, should future connections be established, Blackberry 
Systems would be agreeable to installing sidewalks at that time. 
Chair Williams asked if anyone else wished to speak. Hearing none, no additional comments 
were offered. 
 
Mr. Smith made a motion to approve the site plan for 6477 W KL Avenue, including the 
recommendations outlined in the staff report. Mr. Gould seconded the motion. The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 
Ms. Harris informed the Board that the applicant is requesting two variances. The requested 
variances are from Sections 53.60 and 57.90 of the Zoning Ordinance.  Per section 53.60, the 
applicant is requesting to not be obligated to install certain landscaping in the greenbelt area 
along the S 9th Street right-of-way. The applicant is also requesting relief from Section 57.90 to 
not be obligated to install the 6-foot wide sidewalk along the property’s frontage on S 9th Street. 

 
Section 69: Standards of Variance Review 
The Michigan courts have applied the following principles for a variance, which collectively 
amount to demonstrating a practical difficulty, as follows:  

• Special or unique physical conditions and circumstances exist which are specific to the 
property involved and which are not generally applicable to other properties in the same 
district. 

• Strict compliance with the standard would unreasonably prevent the landowner from 
using the property for a permitted use; or would render conformity to the ordinance 
unnecessarily burdensome.  

• The variance is the minimum necessary to provide substantial justice to the landowner 
and neighbors.  

• The problem is not self-created.  
• Public safety and welfare.  

 
Staff have analyzed the request against these principles and offer the following information to 
the Zoning Board of Appeals: 
 
Standards of Approval of a Nonuse Variance (practical difficulty)  
 
Standard:      Unique Physical Circumstances  
                     Are there unique physical limitations or conditions which prevent compliance?  
 
Comment:    Sidewalk and greenbelt landscaping along S 9th Street – The frontage of the 

property along S 9th Street where non-motorized facilities would be placed is steep 
and construction at this time would present significant grading challenges with 
existing terrain as well as impacts to stormwater infrastructure. Photos were shown 
and are also included in the packet. The same unique physical limitations or 
conditions are present with regard to the greenbelt landscaping along the rights-of-
way with the addition of a Consumers Power easement, shown illustrated on the site 
plan, which would limit the area and the height available to install canopy or 

7



 Page 6 
 

understory trees. Shrubs required by the streets right-of way section, intended to 
provide screening to the parking lot, are still being provided on the site plan. 

 
Standard:      Conformance Unnecessarily Burdensome  
 Are reasonable options for compliance available?  
 Does reasonable use of the property exist with denial of the variance?  
 
Comment:  Sidewalk along S 9th Street – It would be unreasonable to require a sidewalk to be 

installed that does not connect to another non-motorized facility nearby. Given the 
recent changes in the law, constructing a ‘sidewalk to nowhere’ violates the new 
Public Right-Of-Way Accessibility Guidelines (PROWAG) statute. Additionally, as 
a part of the Comprehensive Master Plan which is underway, a close look will be 
taken at the non-motorized transportation plan and recommendations for revisions 
will arise with the completion and implementation. 

 
 Greenbelt landscaping along S 9th Street – It could be argued that there are 

reasonable options for compliance. The applicant is requesting not to be required to 
install the two (2) canopy and four (4) understory trees along the S 9th Street 
frontage in the greenbelt area and just install shrubs along the parking area. The 
applicant indicated in their narrative that plantings to satisfy this requirement were 
provided with past site plan reviews but were removed by Consumers Energy due to 
the restrictions of the easement, which indicates no trees are allowed to be in this 
area. This, coupled with the unique topography, could make conformance with the 
ordinance challenging.  

 
 To honor the intent of the ordinance and the restrictions of the easement, staff 

recommend the ZBA consider reducing the requirements by half, requiring one (1) 
canopy and two (2) understory trees, or a substitution of low-growing shrubs or 
other understory trees, to be located outside of the easement area. 

 
Standard: Minimum Necessary for Substantial Justice Applied to both applicant as well as to 

other property owners in district. Review past decisions of the ZBA for consistency 
(precedence). 

 
Comment:   In researching past ZBA decisions regarding variance relief from the non-motorized 

facilities requirements of Section 57.90 and Section 53.60 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
Planning Department staff were able to identify similar requests where these 
Ordinance requirements were considered, but there no decisions regarding variance 
relief from the greenbelt canopy and understory trees entirely found. A summary of 
these findings is available in the staff report included in the packet.  

 
Standard:  Self-Created Hardship  

Are the conditions or circumstances which resulted in the variance request created 
by actions of the applicant or a previous owner? 

 

8



 Page 7 
 

Comment: Sidewalk along S 9th Street – The applicant’s request for relief to not be obligated 
to install the subject non-motorized infrastructure is what is causing the variance 
request. However, it could be argued that this request is not entirely self-created 
given the parcel’s frontage along the east side of S 9th Street does not support non-
motorized infrastructure at this time. Prior to an amendment to the Zoning 
Ordinance in 2021, the applicant would have been able to consent to a Special 
Assessment District and would not have to come forward with this request.  

 
 Greenbelt landscaping along S 9th Street – The applicant’s request for a variance 

to not install any trees along the frontage could be considered self-created. 
However, it should be noted that the property owner did not create the existing 
conditions along the S 9th Street road frontage, nor did they create the large 
easement that runs diagonally across the property that prohibits trees to be installed 
in this area. These, as well as the constructability issues and grading challenges, are 
not man-made. 

 
Standard: Public Safety and Welfare  
 Will the variance request negatively impact the health, safety, and welfare of 

others? 
 
Comment: Sidewalk and greenbelt landscaping along S 9th Street – It is not expected that 

these variance requests would negatively impact the health, safety, or welfare of 
others.  

 
POSSIBLE ACTIONS  
The Zoning Board of Appeals may take the following possible actions:  

• Motion to approve as requested (conditions may be attached) 
• Motion to approve with an alternate variance relief (conditions may be attached)  
• Motion to deny  

 
The motion should include the findings of fact relevant to the requested variance. Based on the 
staff analysis, the following findings of fact were shared and in the staff report included in the 
packet:  
 

• Support of variance approval for the sidewalk along S 9th Street –  
o There are unique physical circumstances that prevent strict compliance with the 

Zoning Ordinance.  
o Conformance to the Ordinance is unnecessarily burdensome.  
o Minimum necessary for substantial justice is met.  
o The request is not entirely self-created. o It is not expected that the variance request 

would negatively impact the health, safety, or welfare of the public. 
 

•  Support of variance denial for the sidewalk along S 9th Street – 
o  The applicant’s request to have the sidewalk requirement waived can be considered 

as a self created hardship.  
 

9



 Page 8 
 

• Support of variance approval for the greenbelt landscaping along S 9th Street – 
o There are unique physical circumstances that prevent strict compliance with the 

Zoning Ordinance.  
o The request is not entirely self-created. o It is not expected that the variance request 

would negatively impact the health, safety, or welfare of the public. 
 

• Support of variance denial for the greenbelt along S 9th Street –  
o The applicant’s request to have certain landscaping in the greenbelt along the S 9th 

Street right of-way be waived can be considered as a self-created hardship. 
o Conformance to the Ordinance is not unnecessarily burdensome.  
o Minimum necessary for substantial justice is not met. 

 
Possible motions for the Zoning Board of Appeals to consider include: 
 

1. The Zoning Board of Appeals denies the variance request from 53.60, but approves the  
variance from Section 57.90 with the condition that:  
a. The applicant consents to a Special Assessment District for a future non-motorized      

facility.  
b. An easement for a future non-motorized facility shall be provided to the Township prior to 

occupancy being granted for the warehouse in phase one. 
 

2. The Zoning Board of Appeals approves the variance from Section 53.60 as requested but 
denies the variance request from Section 57.90. 

 
 3. The Zoning Board of Appeals approves alternate variance relief from Section 53.60, 

requiring a reduced number of plantings along the S 9th Street right-of-way in the greenbelt 
area, but denies the variance request from Section 57.90.  

 
 4. The Zoning Board of Appeals consider approving alternate variance relief from Section 

53.60, requiring a reduced number of plantings along the S 9th Street right-of-way in the 
greenbelt area, and consider approving the variance from Section 57.90 with the following 
conditions: 
a. The applicant consents to a Special Assessment District for a future non-motorized 

facility. 
b. An easement for a future non-motorized facility shall be provided to the Township prior 

to occupancy being granted for the warehouse in phase one. 
 

5. The Zoning Board of Appeals approves both variance requests as requested from Section 
53.60 and Section 57.90 with the condition that: 
a. The applicant consents to a Special Assessment District for a future non-motorized 

facility.  
b. An easement for a future non-motorized facility shall be provided to the Township prior to 

occupancy being granted for the warehouse in phase one. 
 
6. The Zoning Board of Appeals denies both the variance requests as requested from Section 

53.60 and Section 57.90. 

10



 Page 9 
 

Mr. Smith requested clarification regarding the variance requests. Ms. Harris confirmed that one 
pertains to the greenbelt landscaping requirements, and the other relates to the requirement to 
install non-motorized infrastructure along S 9th Street. 
 
Mr. Smith made a motion to support the request for a variance from the requirement to install a 
non-motorized facility along S 9th Street. He amended the motion to include the conditions 
recommended by staff and that the applicant consents to the establishment of a Special 
Assessment District for a future non-motorized facility. 
 
In support of the motion, Mr. Smith stated that the subject property possesses unique physical 
characteristics that make compliance with the zoning ordinance exceptionally difficult. He noted 
that strict adherence would result in a sidewalk that leads to no connected infrastructure—
essentially a “pathway to nowhere.” He further emphasized that the hardship was not self-created 
by the property owner and that granting the variance would not adversely affect public health or 
safety. 
 
Mr. Smith made a motion to support the request for a variance from the greenbelt landscaping 
requirements. He amended the motion to include the conditions recommended by staff. 
 
In support of the motion, Mr. Smith referenced prior actions by Consumers Energy, noting that 
trees planted in the area had previously been removed and may be removed again, even if 
planted outside the easement. He reiterated that the property has unique physical characteristics 
rendering compliance with the zoning ordinance impractical. He emphasized that the hardship 
was not self-created and that approval of the variance would not negatively impact health or 
safety. 
 
Mr. Gould seconded both motions as presented.  The motions were passed unanimously. 
 
Mr. Gould inquired about potential changes that would enable staff to administratively approve 
more requests. Ms. Stefforia responded that this matter is currently under consideration; 
however, the completion of the Master Plan including a new Non-Motorized Plan should be in 
place before moving forward with such a change. 
 
OTHER UPDATES AND BUSINESS  
 
There were none.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, Chair Williams adjourned the meeting at 3:30 p.m.  
 
Minutes Prepared: April 24, 2025 
Minutes Approved: 
 
 
 

11



[This page intentionally left blank for printing purposes.] 

12



 

 

May 22, 2025 
 
Mtg Date:   May 27, 2025 
 
To:  Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
 
From:  Leeanna Harris, Zoning Administrator 
  
Applicant: Jason Headley, RWL Signs  
  
Owner:  Maple Hill Leaseholds, LLC 
 
Property: 5622 West Main Street, Parcel Number 05-13-180-035 
  
Zoning:  C: Local Business District 
 
Request: Requesting Two Sign Variances for a New Wall Sign 
 
Section(s): Section 55.80 – Commercial and Office Use Districts 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
OVERVIEW:  
RWL Signs, on behalf of Maple Hill 
Leaseholds, LLC, is requesting two sign 
variances pertaining to new on site 
wall signage for the property located 
at 5622 West Main Street.  
 
The approximate 5-acre site is located 
on the north side of West Main Street, 
east of US-131, and has road frontage 
adjacent to West Main Street and 
Maple Hill Drive. The site currently 
serves as a new and used car sales lot 
and is zoned C: Local Business District. 
On the building’s south elevation, 
along West Main Street, there is 
approximately 185 square feet of sign 
area. On the east elevation, along 
Maple Hill Drive, there is 
approximately 101 square feet of sign 
area. Visuals of both elevations are 
attached.  
 
Section 55.80 of the zoning ordinance governs the use, area, type, height, and number of signs allowed 
for commercial land uses, including for automobile sales. Both variance requests are for relief from this 
section.  
 

13



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Maple Hill Leaseholds, LLC – Sign Variance 
05/27/2025 ∙ Page 2 

 

For Request A, the applicant is requesting a variance to establish a total of 205 square feet (a variance of 
9 square feet) of wall sign area on the south elevation of the building to allow a new 20.47 square foot 
“Genesis” wall sign. The maximum sign area is determined by allowing one (1) square foot for each foot 
in length or height (whichever is greater) of the wall to which it is affixed. Since this wall is 196 feet in 
length, only up to 196 square feet in area would be permitted per code. Multiple signs are allowed to be 
placed on the same wall provided the combined square footage and number do not exceed what is 
allowed. The east elevation currently has approximately 101 square feet of existing sign area.   
 
For Request B, the applicant is requesting a variance in order to allow seven wall signs, while the 
Ordinance allows for a total four signs. A deviation was granted by the Zoning Board of Appeals in 2015 
for six signs, where only four were allowed.  
 
STANDARDS OF REVIEW - STAFF ANALYSIS 
The Michigan courts have applied the following principles for a dimensional variance, which collectively 
amount to demonstrating a practical difficulty, as follows: 

• Special or unique physical conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the property 
involved and which are not generally applicable to other properties in the same district. 

• Strict compliance with the standard would unreasonably prevent the landowner from using the 
property for a permitted use; or would render conformity to the ordinance unnecessarily 
burdensome. 

• The variance is the minimum necessary to provide substantial justice to the landowner and 
neighbors. 

• The problem is not self-created. 
• Public safety and welfare. 

 
STANDARDS OF APPROVAL OF A NONUSE VARIANCE (PRACTICAL DIFFICULTY): 
The applicant has provided a letter of intent for their request. This letter is attached to this report. Staff’s 
review against these criteria is provided below. Request A is to allow a total of 205 square feet in sign 
area where 196 square feet in sign area is allowed. Request B is to allow seven wall signs, where four wall 
signs are allowed. 
 
Standard: Unique Physical Circumstances 

Are there unique physical limitations or conditions which prevent compliance? 
 
Comment: It could be argued that there are not unique physical limitations or circumstances that are 

peculiar to the property involved that would not be generally applicable to other 
properties in the C: Local Business District.  

 
  Request A (sign area): The conditions that prevent compliance are the existing cumulative 

sign area (185 square feet) and the total linear wall length of the south elevation (196 
feet). There is still 11 square feet of signage before the allowance would be exceeded.  

 
  The east elevation can accommodate additional signage - approximately 74 square feet.  
 
  Request B (number of signs): The condition that limits compliance with the ordinance is 

the number of signs currently existing on the south elevation and only four being allowed. 

14



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Maple Hill Leaseholds, LLC – Sign Variance 
05/27/2025 ∙ Page 3 

 

Six signs currently exist on the building, with the variance request to allow seven. Four 
signs exist on the south elevation and two signs exist on the east elevation. 

 
Standard: Conformance Unnecessarily Burdensome 

Are reasonable options for compliance available? 
Does reasonable use of the property exist with denial of the variance? 
 

Comment: It could be argued that there are reasonable options for compliance available and that 
reasonable use of the property does exist with the denial of the variance. 

 
  Request A: The building’s south elevation is 196 feet long. Currently having 185 square 

feet of signage, an additional 11 square feet would be allowed. Although this is not 
enough to cover the proposed 20.47 square foot “Genesis” sign, it could be argued that 
there are reasonable options while still in compliance with the Zoning Ordinance.  

 
  It could be reasonable to install the signage on the east elevation instead (facing Maple 

Hill Drive, rather than West Main Street) if the requirement is to have the brands 
displayed on the building. Or, considering the new Subaru dealership planned at 6565 
West Main Street, removing the associated signage from this building would allow the 
“Genesis” sign to be installed without the variance.  

 
  If the variance were denied, the applicant would have to propose signage that meets 

Ordinance requirements, not allowing any signage beyond 196 square feet on the south 
elevation.  

 
  Reasonable options for compliance exist and reasonable use of the property would exist 

with denial of the variance.  

  Request B: The Zoning Ordinance allows four signs, while six were allowed with a 2015 
deviation request. It could be argued that there are reasonable options for compliance in 
the same sense as above, that signs could be removed when the Subaru dealership at 
6565 West Main Street is established, allowing the additional signage to be installed 
without the variance. Reasonable use of the property would also still exist.  

• Discuss if the location of the signage is flexible (installing on the east elevation, rather 
than the south) AND/OR discuss whether to add a condition requiring the “Subaru” 
signs be removed with the establishment of the new Subaru dealership at 6565 West 
Main Street.  

 
Standard: Minimum Necessary for Substantial Justice 

Applied to both applicant as well as to other property owners in district. 
Review past decisions of the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) for consistency (precedence). 

Comment: In researching past ZBA decisions regarding sign relief for commercial properties, Planning 
Department staff were not able to identify any similar requests to Request A for an 
increased wall sign area and one request to Request B for an increased number of wall 
signs. A summary of these findings is described below.  

15



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Maple Hill Leaseholds, LLC – Sign Variance 
05/27/2025 ∙ Page 4 

 

Request A: No similar requests were identified where the property is commercial, there 
are existing wall signs, and additional square footage was allowed to exceed the 
allowable area.  

Most commercial deviations/variances were for one wall sign to exceed the allowance 
due to distance from the road, architectural details, etc.  

Request B: Maple Hill Leaseholds, LLC, 5622 West Main Street, May 26, 2015:  

Sign Art, Inc. requested a sign deviation to allow six wall signs, while four wall signs were 
allowed by Ordinance. The applicant wanted to maintain the existing number of signs on 
the property, which was six at the time. The applicant also noted similar reasons and 
requirements for needing signage for each car brand on the site. This request was 
following renovations at Maple Hill Auto where the subject building was separated from 
an addition by a fire wall and was interpreted by staff to be two separate buildings, 
allowing six signs to be installed. Once this fire wall was removed during the 
renovations, the allowance was removed and set at four signs per building. The request 
was to maintain the six signs that were allowed before. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
unanimously approved the request.  

 
Standard: Self-Created Hardship 

Are the conditions or circumstances which resulted in the variance request created by 
actions of the applicant? 

Comment: Requests A & B: The request could be considered a self-created hardship as it is the 
applicant’s desire to add a new 20.47 square foot sign that exceeds both the maximum 
sign area, and the number of signs allowed for the building. The applicant did state that a 
manufacturer requirement for a wall sign for the “Genesis,” car brand is the reason for 
the request.  

 
Standard: Public Safety and Welfare 
  Will the variance request negatively impact the health, safety, and welfare of others? 

Comment: Requests A & B: Allowing for increased sign area and an additional wall sign would not be 
expected to negatively impact the health, safety, or welfare of others as it would not be 
intrusive to motorists or any of the surrounding properties.  

 
 

POSSIBLE ACTIONS 

The Zoning Board of Appeals may take the following possible actions: 
• Motion to approve as requested (conditions may be attached) 
• Motion to approve with an alternate variance relief (conditions may be attached) 
• Motion to deny 

 
The motion should include the findings of fact relevant to the requested variance. Based on the staff 
analysis, the following findings of fact are presented: 

16



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Maple Hill Leaseholds, LLC – Sign Variance 
05/27/2025 ∙ Page 5 

 

 
• Support of variance approval for Request A (sign area) 

o Public health, safety, and welfare will be secured. 
o The request may not be considered a self-created hardship since it is a requirement 

from the “Genesis” car brand to have adequate signage. 
 

• Support of variance denial for Request A (sign area) 
o There are not unique physical limitations or circumstances that are peculiar to the 

property involved that would not be generally applicable to other properties in the C: 
Local Business District. 

o Conformance with the Zoning Ordinance is not unnecessarily burdensome as 
reasonable use of the property would still exist if the variance is denied and 
reasonable options for compliance are available. 

o Minimum necessary for substantial justice is not satisfied. Similar requests were not 
identified where the requests were granted.  

o The request could be considered a hardship that is self-created, as it is the applicant’s 
desire to add a new sign that exceeds the total maximum sign area allowed on the 
building’s south elevation per code. The applicant could relocate the wall sign and 
mount it on the building’s east elevation while still achieving compliance with sign 
area requirements or remove an existing wall sign. 

 
• Support of variance approval for Request B (number of signs) 

o There is minimum necessary for substantial justice as a previous request was 
identified where an additional number of signage was allowed beyond what the 
Zoning Ordinance would allow.  

o Public health, safety, and welfare will be secured. 
o The request may not be considered a self-created hardship since it is a requirement 

from the “Genesis” car brand to have signage. 
 

• Support of variance denial for Request B (number of signs) 
o There are not unique physical limitations or circumstances that are peculiar to the 

property involved that would not be generally applicable to other properties in the C: 
Local Business District. 

o Conformance with the Zoning Ordinance is not unnecessarily burdensome as 
reasonable use of the property would still exist if the variance is denied and 
reasonable options for compliance are available. 

o The request could be considered a hardship that is self-created, as it is the applicant’s 
desire to add a new sign that exceeds the total number of wall signs allowed per code 
instead of removing an existing sign.  

 
 
  

17



Oshtemo Township Zoning Board of Appeals 
Maple Hill Leaseholds, LLC – Sign Variance 
05/27/2025 ∙ Page 6 

 

Possible motions for the Zoning Board of Appeals to consider include: 
 
Request A 
1. Variance Approval 

The Zoning Board of Appeals approves the variance request due to the request not being considered 
a self-created hardship and approval will not negatively impact the health, safety, and welfare of the 
public. 

 
2. Variance Denial 

The Zoning Board of Appeals denies the variance request as there are not unique physical 
circumstances or limitations, conformance with code requirements is not unnecessarily burdensome, 
minimum necessary for substantial justice is not satisfied, and the need for the variance could be 
considered a self-created hardship. 

 
Request B 
1. Variance Approval 

The Zoning Board of Appeals approves the variance request due to the minimum necessary for 
substantial justice being satisfied, the request could not be considered a self-created hardship, and 
approval will not negatively impact the health, safety, and welfare of the public. 

 
2. Variance Denial 

The Zoning Board of Appeals denies the variance request as there are not unique physical 
circumstances or limitations, conformance with code requirements is not unnecessarily burdensome, 
and the need for the variance could be considered a self-created hardship. 

 
 

Attachments: Application, Letter of Intent, Existing Signage, Sign Graphics, and Minutes for Substantial 
Justice 

18



I

shtemo 7275W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan 49009-9334
Phone: 269-3754260 Fax: 269-375-7180

CHARTER TOWNSHIP
. Established '1839 PLEASE PRINT

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS fvAPLE 14 rt-t* Atlro q4ouP
gbzz_ r,ues"r nzta.rN S-T,:ze€-r .

PLANNING & ZONING APPLICATION

Applicant Name: AtrqJ Aeo5 r*-,

Company: ?trL S|ON cotap/tp!

Address: 6185 1U.J6BT V.L. AVE

Y&Lt*?,4A>oo, rwT- .1 Qool

E-mail: TAsal @ euus(qN ,cot\4

Telephone: zaQ '372 - 36zcl x 3 Fax:

Interest in Property: A.o/{TP-Ae-To12-

OWNER*:

Name: ,:A,,^es Y VA^JDSNG.g.Z4

Address: 5G,7> W ' t*a tN sr.

FAuArvtAzoo ) fvlL 4q@q

E-mail: :f VAArDe!4e,zq @ ra*eretltu*nvTo 'c-otvr
Phone & Fax: ?b3 - SLlz- b6oo

NATURE OF THE REQUEST: (Please check the appropriate item(s))

T}{IS
SPACH

h"0R
TOWNSHlI)

USE

ONI,Y

Fee Amount

Escrow Amount_

5e.1ir- 55 'Bo

BRIEFLY DESCRIBE YOUR REQUEST (Use Attachments if Necessary):

4//oo,, "7 oolnot Si6ds; rofhL A,na zos Seu$pE

_ Pre-Application Review

_ Site Plan Review - 1088

_ Administrative Site Plan Review - 1086

_ Special Exception Use - 1085
y Zontng Variance -1092

Site Condominium - 1084

_ Accessory Building Review - 1083

_ Rezoning - I09l
_ Subdivision Plat Review - 1089

_ Interpretation - 1082

_ Other:

F€ET Oie hlAt-t-
S/QNAG€ -TcyrAL,

DEALEqL t//out-b LikE TO AOO ?-at 47 $O./eE Fo€T rt Q ENESTS ,'

1

wAt-L S i6N ,

Rev.9/14/22
19



Legal Description

':tCi3.Z-tZCO(AaIl.l POSITHfvAt6NESt/{U75.05FTTHSBID€G48M|N5JSCWJ3.0AFTTOpLBE6 IHSB7OtG48MtNslS{!VAlri}Ji}UwM^t..i:
tl't?'vlHNO0src0lMlN5sscYrPARwltEl/zst1t1Nw1/4zz5FrTHsBToEG4BMlNsigcwpAREErwl/1u200rrTHN00trco1MtNgrscw.,2!.s:s:
trr .t 88gt500Mlr{135c E 560 il TH S At6 w Lt MAptE H[t DR 495.06 FT IO B€C .

PARCELNUFIBER:3905- t:5'- t'> - tt:c-- c7i
ADDRESS OFPROPERTI{: 5i.zz- L'-; rvrx r* :; raceT .

PRESENT USE OFTI{E PROPERTY: At"'{c 5s:/+(.fz5 i-l t P
PRESEI.{T ZONING: 2cl titttM(tZ( tAL* SIZE OF PROPERTY:

NAME(S) & ADDRESS(ES) OF ALL OTHER PERSONS, CORPORATIONS, OR FIRMS HAVING
A LEGAL OR EQUITABLE INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY:

Name(s) Address(es)

SIGNATURES

I (we) the undersigned certifu that the information contained on this application form and the
required documents attached hereto are to the best af my (our) knowledge true and accurate.
I (we) ocknowledge that we have received the Township's Disclaimer Regarding Sewer and lYater
Infras*ucture. By submitting this Planning & Zoning Appltcation, I (we) grant peftnissionfor
Oshtemo Township officials o.nd agents to enter the subject property of the application as part of
completing the reviews necessary to process the application.

/lvt*
Owne Signature (*f from Applicant) Date

4/, /zo>"s

Applicant's Signature

Copics to:
Planning - I
Applic.nt - I
ClctL - I
Dcputy Cle* - I

Afiofiicy* I
Asscrror- I
Plattnfurg S€crcLry - Original PLEASE ATTACH ALL REQUIRED DOCUMENTS

Date

****

2

tolllclGs 8S\Urq'.Lidel\LlN DA\Rllnoing\FORMS

Rev.9/14/22

20



The request is for a variance from Zoning Ordinance 55.80 Signs and Billboards- Commercial and Office
Districts.

Maple Hill Auto Group has received a ZBA variance in the past for additional signage due to the addition

of car brands.

Criteria 3: Unique Physical Circumstances

The number of car brands offered for sale at Maple Hill Auto Group make the limits on wall signage

difficult to comply with.

Criteria 4: Self-Created Hardship

The hardship is self-created only to the extent that Maple Hill Auto Group is offering another car brand

to the public. The car brand needs to be displayed on the building.

Criteria 5: Public Safety and Welfare

lf a variance is granted, public safety and welfare would not be affected by allowing the addition of a wall

sign for the Genesis brand.

Maple Hill Auto Group would like to add one wall sign for the brand 'GENESIS" which, although sold at
the dealership, does not currently have any signage.

The requested sign is 20.47 square foot in area, 2'- LO f3/L6" tall and 5'- LO %" wide and will be placed

between the current Volvo and Hyundai wall signs facing West Main Street.

Criteria 1: Conformance Unnecessarily Burdensome

A requirement of offering the Genesis car brand for sale at the dealership is having wall signage. The

proposed wall sign is a bare minimum.

Criteria 2: Substantial Justice

21



22



23



24



25



26



27



[This page intentionally left blank for printing purposes.] 

28



29



30

lharris
Rectangle



31



32



33



34


	1. Agenda 05-27-2025
	2.  Public Comment Policy
	3. 2025.04.22 ZBA Minutes_draft
	6. a. 2025.05.22 - Staff Report
	6. b. Application
	6. c. Letter of Intent
	6. d. Existing Signage
	6. e. Sign Graphics
	Sign Graphics.pdf
	Graphics.pdf

	6. f. May 27, 2015 - Minutes



